Inquiry into Elder Abuse in Queensland

Submission No: 62

Submitted by: The National Ageing Research Institute

Publication: Making the submission and your name public

Attachments: See attachment

Submitter Comments:



Submission to the Inquiry into Elder Abuse in Queensland

Prepared by: Professor Bianca Brijnath, Dr Marina Cavuoto, Ms Rachel Muoio.

09 April 2025. Submitted to the Education, Arts and Community Committee of the Queensland Legislative Assembly.





Contents

Summary of recommendations	2
Nature and extent of elder abuse	3
Victims and perpetrators of elder abuse	3
How effectively current systems support older Queenslanders	4
Opportunities to improve responses to elder abuse in Queensland	5
Recommendation: Improve whole-of-community awareness of elder abuse	5
Recommendation: Strengthen the capacity and capability of health providers to recognise and respond to elder abuse	5
Recommendation: Reduce the impact of elder abuse by addressing inadequate housing and increasing homelessness among older people	5
Recommendation: Address perpetrator risk factors by improving services relating to mental heal and substance abuse	
Recommendation: Strengthen efforts to stop commercial predatory practices and scams	6
Recommendation: Mandate appropriate certification requirements for elder mediators	6
Recommendation: Criminalise serious forms of elder abuse in Queensland	6
Recommendation: Establish an independent adult safeguarding agency	6
Recommendation: Invest in comprehensive research to establish effective responses to prevent stop elder abuse	
Recommendation: Improve data collection by services and state institutions	7
Conclusion	8
About	9
The National Ageing Research Institute (NARI)	9
La Trobe University	9
Previous work	9
Contacts for further information	10
References	11

Summary of recommendations

The National Ageing Research Institute (NARI) and La Trobe University welcome the Inquiry into Elder Abuse in Queensland and acknowledge the work and improvements that have been made in Queensland to support older individuals experiencing elder abuse.

NARI and La Trobe University welcome further changes to law and policy, and further investment in service provision and research, to improve responses to elder abuse in Queensland. We offer the following recommendations:

- Improve whole-of-community awareness of elder abuse
- Strengthen the capacity and capability of health providers to recognise and respond to elder abuse
- Reduce the impact of elder abuse by addressing inadequate housing and increasing homelessness among older people
- Address perpetrator risk factors by improving services relating to mental health and substance abuse
- Strengthen efforts to stop commercial predatory practices and scams
- Mandate appropriate certification requirements for elder mediators
- Criminalise serious forms elder abuse in Queensland
- Establish an independent adult safeguarding agency
- Invest in comprehensive research to establish effective responses to prevent and stop elder abuse.
- Improve data collection by services and state institutions

Several recommendations made may be addressed at the national level through the Second National Plan to End the Abuse and Mistreatment of Older People (2024 – 2034). Therefore, any state-based interventions should be made in consultation with national plans to minimise duplication.

Nature and extent of elder abuse

The National Elder Abuse Prevalence Study (NEAPS) suggests that around one in every 6 older Australians experience abuse(1). Elder abuse can take place in private homes, community settings, or institutional environments, and includes physical, verbal, and psychological/emotional abuse, as well as sexual abuse, financial abuse, and neglect(2–4). While the NEAPS outlines prevalence rates of various forms of elder abuse at a national level, it does not include state or territory-specific prevalence rates.

Victims and perpetrators of elder abuse

Although evidence from some studies indicates gender differences in who experiences elder abuse, global prevalence estimates indicate that elder abuse affects men and women at similar rates(1,5,6). This indicates that men are victims of elder abuse significantly more frequently than other forms of family violence. Several risk factors have been recognised as significant contributors to victimisation, such as problems with physical health or cognition, and low socio-economic status(7,8).

Perpetrators of elder abuse are most often adult children, followed by friends, partners or spouses, and acquaintances, however this pattern can vary with the type of abuse experienced(1). Perpetrators are more likely to be men (55%), however the gender distribution of perpetrators also varies by abuse type(1,6,9–11). There are a range of factors which heighten the risk of an individual perpetrating elder abuse, for example, mental health conditions, substance use disorders, and exposure to family violence during childhood(7,8).

How effectively current systems support older Queenslanders

There are several systems in place in Queensland to support older individuals experiencing elder abuse. The establishment of the Elder Abuse Prevention Unit (EAPU) and associated helpline has been a very positive development, which has seen increasingly high rates of utilisation from members of the public seeking specialised advice, information, support, and referrals for older people facing abuse(12,13). A range of other state-based organisations and bodies also play a crucial role in supporting older adults facing abuse in Queensland, such as the Queensland Human Rights Commission, Seniors Legal and Support Service (SLASS), the Elder Abuse Prevention and Support Service (EAPSS), the Office of the Public Advocate, Aged and Disability Advocacy Australia (ADA Australia), Caxton Legal Centre, and Relationships Australia.

The criminalisation of coercive control in Queensland, since 2022, has also had important implications for addressing elder abuse in terms of improving protection for older victims and increasing awareness of coercive control generally. Other positive developments include the Queensland government's participation in awareness raising activities for World Elder Abuse Awareness Day (WEAAD), and various training and information sessions, e.g., as facilitated by ADA Law and The Gold Coast Primary Health Network and SLASS. However, there are many additional steps that can be taken to improve responses to elder abuse in Queensland. We discuss several opportunities below.

Opportunities to improve responses to elder abuse in Queensland

Recommendation: Improve whole-of-community awareness of elder abuse

Increase whole-of-community awareness, education and engagement, through a statewide campaign, to reach all communities throughout Queensland. Ensure that no communities are unfairly disadvantaged by a lack of education and awareness-raising concerning ageism, elder abuse, the importance of planning ahead for decision making in later years (including information about enduring powers of attorney and substitute decision making), and what supports are available to the community concerning elder abuse. This includes more targeted messaging for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD), and LGBTQI+ communities.

Recommendation: Strengthen the capacity and capability of health providers to recognise and respond to elder abuse

Elder abuse often goes unreported and is frequently overlooked by health providers due to varying levels of understanding about it, inadequate training in recognising signs, limited access to standardised screening tools, and insufficient organisational support for reporting identified cases(14–17). Yet, health providers are a trusted source of support for older people, well placed to connect older people to specialist services(18).

It is therefore important to build the capacity of health providers, including those who come into regular contact with older people such as paramedics(19), hospital staff(20–22), and community health staff (e.g., GPs, nurses, and pharmacists(23)) by ensuring that health providers are trained in elder abuse, and by introducing routine screening for elder abuse during health service visits. Asking all older people standardised questions about abuse is one of the most effective ways to detect and respond to elder abuse(24).

Recommendation: Reduce the impact of elder abuse by addressing inadequate housing and increasing homelessness among older people

Older people sleeping rough may be particularly vulnerable to abuse. It is therefore important to address increasing rates of homelessness among older people in Queensland. This includes establishing more long-term supports for older adults experiencing elder abuse, including appropriate accommodation. This could involve increasing funding to specialised services for older people experiencing homelessness (e.g., the Footprints Housing Older Women's Support Service (HOWSS)). Homeless services broadly must also be supported to identify older people at risk of elder abuse and/or experiencing elder abuse and must be adequately resourced to meet the need of these vulnerable older adults. Limited social and affordable housing options more generally can be a significant barrier to older people experiencing abuse finding alternative safe and appropriate housing options away from a perpetrator.

Recommendation: Address perpetrator risk factors by improving services relating to mental health and substance abuse

Risk factors for elder abuse perpetration(7,8) often intersect with mental health and substance abuse. Older adults experiencing elder abuse who have previously been interviewed by NARI, including individuals from Queensland, stressed that there is not enough support for adults struggling with these issues, particularly services that are offered for adequate duration and at an appropriate frequency to

support individuals to manage mental health and ongoing sobriety. In particular, there are not enough free sessions with mental health services.

Recommendation: Strengthen efforts to stop commercial predatory practices and scams

Scams have become an increasingly prevalent issue in Queensland, with significant financial losses(25). Although not technically considered a form of elder abuse as it does not occur within a relationship of trust, commercial predatory practices and scams that target older people remain a significant point of concern for older people, advocates and service providers(26–28). Though several strategies have been proposed and implemented to combat scams, additional steps could be taken to further address this problem at a state level, including by enhancing public awareness and education and by holding technology companies accountable for scams that occur on their platforms.

Recommendation: Mandate appropriate certification requirements for elder mediators

Family dynamics can differ to other forms of family violence and may influence the actions that an older person wishes to take. For example, where the perpetrator is an adult child, an older person may prioritise maintaining the relationship rather than undertaking legal proceedings, or interventions involving police(18). As such, family mediation can be a critical avenue to address elder abuse(29,30). However, there is no national standard for accreditation of elder mediators. In lieu of this, the Queensland government could mandate appropriate certification requirements for mediators that wish to serve older clients. For example, as per the certification requirements of the Elder Mediation International Network (EMIN)(31) or the Australian Mediator and Dispute Resolution Accreditation System (AMDRAS)(32). This will improve the knowledge and capabilities of mediators working with older people, including their ability to detect and respond to elder abuse.

Recommendation: Criminalise serious forms of elder abuse in Queensland

Elder abuse in Queensland encompasses various criminal offences, however there isn't a specific offence for elder abuse in Queensland's Criminal Code(33). Frontline and advocacy organisations previously consulted by NARI highlighted the importance of criminalising the most heinous forms of abuse of older individuals. Introducing a specific crime of elder abuse across all states may further deter would-be perpetrators and improve rates of reporting.

Recommendation: Establish an independent adult safeguarding agency

We support the recommendation of the Public Advocate (Qld)(34) to establish in Queensland an independent adult safeguarding agency to receive and investigate reports of suspected abuse and respond with supportive interventions that promote the at-risk adult's right to maximum autonomy.

Recommendation: Invest in comprehensive research to establish effective responses to prevent and stop elder abuse

The abuse and mistreatment of older adults is a neglected area of research. To develop effective policy responses, it is fundamentally necessary to know more about elder abuse. Therefore, there must be greater investment into research which establishes a strong intervention evidence-base, including:

- Research that further investigates the nature and extent of elder abuse, to address gaps in knowledge.
- Research into multidisciplinary, multicomponent interventions that show effective elder abuse prevention and response strategies.

We call on the Queensland State Government to use Targeted Calls for Research on the abuse and mistreatment of older people so that this area of need is met by competitive high-quality research.

Recommendation: Improve data collection by services and state institutions

Further, as outlined in NARI's submission to the Victorian Parliamentary Inquiry into capturing data on family violence perpetrators in Victoria(35), there is a need for improvement in data collection by organisations already collecting data about elder abuse - e.g., data collected by family violence services, mediation and counselling services, health services, banks, police and the courts. This advice is relevant to all states in Australia. Three key overarching steps to improve data collection, as described in Box 1 (below) can aid prevention and intervention work, including advocacy and community education activities, and responses to elder abuse. In lieu of nationally consistent standards for the collection of data relating to elder abuse, we recommend that the Queensland state government consider how statewide data collection can be improved. This should involve consideration of the systems and processes occurring in other states, to improve national consistency.

Box 1: Steps that may be taken to improve data collection relating to elder abuse.

- Consistently collect data on elder abuse (including by upskilling service providers to ask
 questions about elder abuse).
 - Services must ensure that staff are trained in elder abuse identification and response (including a trauma-informed approach) to identify abuse and collect necessary information. Templates and processes should be given to providers to improve consistency in data entry, interpretation, and action, and should include fields to collect data on risk factors for elder abuse, social and clinical characteristics of perpetrators, and immediate, mid-term and long-term outcomes of elder abuse.
- 2. Digitise, deidentify, and make data publicly available via a centralised data repository. Joined up, secure, electronic data repositories are urgently needed to standardise data collection, facilitate information-sharing in real time, enable inter- and intra-agency collaborations, and provide modelling data to monitor trends and identify 'red flags' to plan for services.
- 3. Harness the potential of artificial intelligence and machine learning. Too often, intervention happens at crisis point or after abuse has occurred. There is scope for AI and machine learning to analyse data, assist in identifying 'high-risk' perpetrators, and to raise 'red flags' for appropriate early intervention. There is also scope for artificial intelligence and machine learning to assist with data collection and storage, facilitate 'warm' referrals and link victims and perpetrators in with multi-disciplinary services.

These steps (in Box 1) are included among 138 findings and recommendations published by the Parliament of Victoria in Building the evidence base: Inquiry into capturing data on people who use family violence in Victoria(36).

Conclusion

Elder abuse is a significant social and public health problem carrying a wide range of consequences for individuals affected, including poor mental health, physical injury, and early death(37). State and territory governments, including the Queensland government, have many opportunities to improve responses to elder abuse in Queensland, via law, policy and service provision. Further, to develop effective policy responses, it is fundamentally necessary to know more about elder abuse, and therefore greater investment into research which establishes a strong intervention evidence-base is critical.

About

The National Ageing Research Institute (NARI)

The National Ageing Research Institute (NARI) is Australia's leading independent, non-profit medical research institute dedicated to ageing and aged care research. We specialise in translational research, accelerating change in policy and practice. For nearly 50 years, NARI has led nationally and globally significant research, making a measurable difference to health outcomes and quality of life for older people and those who care for them. Our accomplished team includes public health experts, physiotherapists, psychologists, nurses, sociologists, anthropologists, and social workers. We work with geriatricians, psychiatrists, health economists, statisticians, and other specialists.

Our work is informed by meaningful engagement with older people, policy makers, and health and aged care providers. We provide a bridge between academia, policy, and practice, translating research into accessible evidence and knowledge to enable informed decision-making by governments and practitioners. NARI is the national leader in elder abuse research and in the last 10 years has contributed significantly to the field. Notable examples include:

- Qualitative exploration of the experience of elder abuse from the point of view of people who have experienced abuse and from the point of view of residential care staff (2014-current);
- Development of an action plan for Victoria identifying the gaps and priorities for elder abuse research and service provision (2018)(38).

NARI is governed by an independent skills-based board, and funding is derived from a mix of government, non-government, philanthropic and competitive grant programs.

La Trobe University

Our vision is for La Trobe to be a leader in health, science and education, driven by technology. As a university, we remain focused on achieving impact through research, education and community engagement. We will stay true to our founding mission to expand the lifechanging opportunities afforded by higher education to under-served communities. We are proud that today over 40% of our students are the first in their family to go to university. We are ranked in the top 1% of universities in the world and will stay focused on academic excellence.

Previous work

Professor Bianca Brijnath holds a joint appointment at NARI and La Trobe University. She is a national leader in elder abuse research and advocacy, and produces evidence, tools and resources to improve health and aged care systems, influence government policies and inspire best practice in the health and aged care sector, with respect to elder abuse response and prevention. Alongside, Dr Cavuoto, Ms Muoio and a team of researchers, Prof Brijnath's contribution to elder abuse research includes:

- Scoping the evidence relating to the primary prevention of elder abuse and piloting an intergenerational primary prevention program (2019-2021)(39).
- Co-designing and piloting an elder abuse screening tool in public hospitals(40,41). This tool is now being trialed in 10 hospitals across 4 Australian 4 states through a project funded by the Medical Research Future Fund (2021-2025)(21).

- Analysis of 7 years of elder abuse data from Seniors Rights Victoria to understand service responses (2019-2020)(42).
- Co-production of short educational videos with providers, older people, and family carers to help providers know how to respond to elder abuse in the context of dementia (>2000 views) (2019-2020), https://www.nari.net.au/elder-abuse-and-dementia
- Reviewing elder abuse provider responses during COVID-19 in Victoria and making recommendations to the Victorian Government on how to mitigate risk in future disasters (2021-2022)(20).
- Advice on the intersection between cultural diversity and elder abuse to the National Prevalence Study(1), released December 2021 (2020).
- Evaluation of the National Elder Abuse Plan (2022-2023)(43).
- Submission to the Victorian Parliamentary Inquiry into the mechanisms for capturing data on the profile and volume of perpetrators of family violence in Victoria (2024)(35).
- Strengthening the Frontline Response to Elder Abuse: Qualitative Insights From Australian Paramedics (2024)(19).
- Advocacy through involvement in advisory panels, public lectures, government advice (ongoing).

Contacts for further information

Dr Marina Cavuoto
Senior Research Fellow
National Ageing Research Institute Ltd
Melbourne, Australia

T:	
E:	

Professor Bianca Brijnath School of Humanities and Social Sciences La Trobe University Melbourne, Australia

T	:	
E	:	

References

- 1. Qu L, Kaspiew R, Carson R, Roopani D, De Maio J, Harvey J, et al. National Elder Abuse Prevalence Study: Final Report. Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies; 2021. Available from: https://aifs.gov.au/research/research-reports/national-elder-abuse-prevalence-study-final-report
- 2. Kurrle S, Naughtin G. An Overview of Elder Abuse and Neglect in Australia. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect. 2008 May 12;20(2):108–25.
- 3. World Health Organization. Ageing and Life Course Unit, Université de Genève. Centre interfacultaire de gérontologie. A global response to elder abuse and neglect: building primary health care capacity to deal with the problem world-wide: main report. 2008;134.
- 4. Gorbien MJ, Eisenstein AR. Elder Abuse and Neglect: An Overview. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine. 2005 May;21(2):279–92.
- 5. Yon Y, Mikton CR, Gassoumis ZD, Wilber KH. Elder abuse prevalence in community settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2017 Feb;5(2):e147–56.
- 6. Pillemer K, Burnes D, Riffin C, Lachs MS. Elder Abuse: Global Situation, Risk Factors, and Prevention Strategies. GERONT. 2016 Apr;56(Suppl 2):S194–205.
- Joosten M, Vrantsidis F, Dow, Briony. Understanding Elder Abuse: A Scoping Study. University of Melbourne and the National Ageing Research Institute; 2017. Available from: https://socialequity.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/2777924/Elder-Abuse-A-Scoping-Study.pdf
- 8. Johannesen M, LoGiudice D. Elder abuse: a systematic review of risk factors in community-dwelling elders. Age Ageing. 2013 May;42(3):292–8.
- 9. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2025. Who uses violence? Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/family-domestic-and-sexual-violence/understanding-fdsv/who-uses-violence
- 10. Final report: Care, Dignity and Respect. Canberra: Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety, Australian Government; 2021. Vol 2. Available from: https://www.royalcommission.gov.au/aged-care/final-report
- 11. Yon Y, Ramiro-Gonzalez M, Mikton CR, Huber M, Sethi D. The prevalence of elder abuse in institutional settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Journal of Public Health. 2019 Feb 1;29(1):58–67.
- 12. Record reports of elder abuse [Internet]. Uniting Care; 2022. Available from: https://www.unitingcareqld.com.au/about-us/news-and-publications/news/2022/02/01/Record reports of elder abuse
- 13. Gillbard A, Leggatt-Cook C. Elder abuse statistics in Queensland: Year in review 2021–22. Elder Abuse Prevention Unit, UnitingCare; 2022. Available from: https://eapu.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Elder-Abuse-Statistics-in-Queensland-Year-in-Review-2021%E2%80%9322.pdf
- 14. Dow B, Hempton C, Cortes-Simonet EN, Ellis KA, Koch SH, LoGiudice D, et al. Health professionals' and students' perceptions of elder abuse. Australas J Ageing. 2013 Mar;32(1):48–51.

- 15. Tilse C, Wilson J. Recognising and responding to financial abuse in residential aged care. The Journal of Adult Protection. 2013 Jun 14;15(3):141–52.
- 16. Penhale B. Responding and Intervening in Elder Abuse and Neglect. Ageing Int. 2010 Sep;35(3):235–52.
- 17. Cooper C, Selwood A, Livingston G. Knowledge, Detection, and Reporting of Abuse by Health and Social Care Professionals: A Systematic Review. The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2009 Oct;17(10):826–38.
- 18. Dow B, Gahan L, Gaffy E, Joosten M, Vrantsidis F, Jarred M. Barriers to Disclosing Elder Abuse and Taking Action in Australia. J Fam Viol. 2020 Nov;35(8):853–61.
- 19. Naidoo N, Feldman P, Muoio R, Sawyer S, Brijnath B. Strengthening the Frontline Response to Elder Abuse: Qualitative Insights From Australian Paramedics. J Appl Gerontol. 2024 Nov 19;07334648241302455.
- 20. Brijnath B, Feldman P, Dow B, Muoio R. Australian Frontline Service Response to Elder Abuse During COVID-19: Learnings, Successes, and Preparedness for Disaster. J Appl Gerontol. 2024 Jun;43(6):723–33.
- 21. Cavuoto MG, Markusevska S, Stevens C, Reyes P, Renshaw G, Peters MDJ, et al. The impact of elder abuse training on subacute health providers and older adults: study protocol for a randomized control trial. Trials. 2024 May 22;25(1):338.
- 22. Rosen T, Stern ME, Elman A, Mulcare MR. Identifying and Initiating Intervention for Elder Abuse and Neglect in the Emergency Department. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine. 2018 Aug;34(3):435–51.
- 23. Miller CA. Elder Abuse: The Nurse's Perspective. Clinical Gerontologist. 2005 Mar;28(1–2):105–33.
- 24. Atkinson E, Roberto KA. Global Approaches to Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Elder Abuse Prevention: A Scoping Review. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse. 2024 Jan;25(1):150–65.
- 25. Ministerial Media Statements [Internet]. Seniors warned to be aware of scams. The Queensland Cabinet and Ministerial Directory. Available from: https://statements.qld.gov.au/statements/100003
- 26. National Australia Bank (NAB) News [Internet]. Explainer five scams to watch in 2025. Available from: https://news.nab.com.au/news/explainer-five-scams-to-watch-in-2025/
- 27. Scam action working, but more needs to be done to protect older Australians. Call for trial of peer-support service for victims of online fraud and scams [Internet]. COTA Australia. 2025. Available from: https://cota.org.au/news-items/scam-action-working-but-more-needs-to-be-done-to-protect-older-australians/
- 28. National Seniors Australia [Internet]. 2024. Be aware of aged care scams. Available from: https://nationalseniors.com.au/news/latest-news/be-aware-of-aged-care-scams
- 29. Bagshaw D, Adams VM, Wendt S, Zannettino L. Financial Abuse of Older People by a Family Member: A Difficult Terrain for Service Providers in Australia. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect. 2014 May 27;26(3):270–90.
- 30. Bagshaw D, Adams V, Zannettino L, Wendt S. Elder Mediation and the Financial Abuse of Older People by a Family Member. Conflict Resolution Qtrly. 2015 Jul;32(4):443–80.

- 31. Certification Overview [Internet]. Elder Mediation International Network (EMIN). n.d. Available from: https://elder-mediation-international.net/certification-overview/
- 32. THE AUSTRALIAN MEDIATOR AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION ACCREDITATION STANDARDS (AMDRAS) [Internet]. 2024. Mediator Standards Board. Available from: https://msb.org.au/themes/msb/assets/documents/AMDRAS%20-%20May%202024.pdf
- 33. Elder abuse | Queensland Police Service [Internet]. Available from: https://www.police.qld.gov.au/domestic-violence/elder-abuse
- 34. Adult Safeguarding in Queensland, Volume 2: Reform recommendations [Internet]. Queensland: The Public Advocate (QLD); 2022 [cited 2025 Apr 9]. Available from: https://www.justice.qld.gov.au/public-advocate/our-advocacy/justice-and-human-rights/adult-safeguarding-in-queensland2
- 35. Brijnath B, Muoio R, Cavuoto M, Markusevska S. Submission to the Inquiry into the mechanisms for capturing data on the profile and volume of perpetrators of family violence in Victoria and barriers to achieving a full understanding of this cohort. The National Ageing Research Institute; 2024 May. Available from: https://www.nari.net.au/inquiry-into-capturing-data-on-family-violence-perpetrators-in-victoria
- 36. Building the evidence base: Inquiry into capturing data on people who use family violence in Victoria. Legislative Assembly Legal and Social Issues Committee, Parliament of Victoria; 2025 Apr. Available from: https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/news/justice/family-violence-data/
- 37. Yunus RM, Hairi NN, Choo WY. Consequences of Elder Abuse and Neglect: A Systematic Review of Observational Studies. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse. 2019 Apr;20(2):197–213.
- 38. Dow B, Gaffy E, Hwang K. Elder Abuse Community Action Plan for Victoria. Victoria: The National Ageing Research Institute; 2018 Feb. Available from: https://www.nari.net.au/elder-abuse-action-plan-vic
- 39. Owusu-Addo E, O'Halloran K, Brijnath B, Dow B. Primary prevention interventions for elder abuse: Results from a systematic review. Prepared for Respect Victoria on behalf of National Ageing Research Institute; 2020. Available from: https://www.respectvictoria.vic.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/202010/Evidence%20Review %20NARI.PDF
- 40. Brijnath B, Gahan L, Gaffy E, Dow B. "Build Rapport, Otherwise No Screening Tools in the World Are Going to Help": Frontline Service Providers' Views on Current Screening Tools for Elder Abuse. Bowers BJ, editor. The Gerontologist. 2020 Apr 2;60(3):472–82.
- 41. Brijnath B, Gahan L, Dow B, Hickey L, Braddy L, Collins M, et al. When co-design works (sort of): the case of the Australian elder abuse screening instrument. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect. 2022 Aug 8;34(4):302–13.
- 42. Brijnath B, Gartoulla P, Joosten M, Feldman P, Temple J, Dow B. A 7-year trend analysis of the types, characteristics, risk factors, and outcomes of elder abuse in community settings. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect. 2021 Aug 8;33(4):270–87.
- 43. McEwan J, Carson R, Kaspiew R, De Maio J, Horsfall B. Evaluation of the National plan to respond to the abuse of older Australians: final report. Australian Institute of Family Studies; 2024 Jul. Available from: https://apo.org.au/node/327557

